

MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING

Between the

City of Carmel-by-the-Sea

And the

Carmel-by-the-Sea General Unit

For the period

July 1, ~~2019-2022~~ through June 30, ~~2022~~2024

TABLE OF CONTENTS

	Page
ARTICLE 1: PREAMBLE	1
ARTICLE 2: RECOGNITION	1
ARTICLE 3: TERM OF CONTRACT	2
ARTICLE 4: COMPENSATION	2
ARTICLE 5: EDUCATIONAL INCENTIVE PAY.....	3 <u>4</u>
ARTICLE 6: CAL-PERS <u>CALPERS</u> RETIREMENT PLAN	5
ARTICLE 7: UNION SUPPLEMENTAL RETIREMENT PLAN.....	7 <u>8</u>
ARTICLE 8: DEFERRED COMPENSATION	7 <u>8</u>
ARTICLE 9: UNIFORM ALLOWANCE.....	8
ARTICLE 10: HOLIDAYS	8
ARTICLE 11: GENERAL LEAVE.....	9
ARTICLE 12: HOURS OF WORK.....	9
ARTICLE 13: VACATION ACCRUAL PLAN	9 <u>10</u>
ARTICLE 14: VACATION BUY BACK	10
ARTICLE 15: BEREAVEMENT LEAVE.....	10
ARTICLE 16: SICK LEAVE	10 <u>11</u>
ARTICLE 17: CATASTROPHIC ILLNESS/SICK LEAVE HOURS TRANSFER.....	12
ARTICLE 18: OVERTIME COMPENSATION AND/OR COMPENSATORY TIME.....	13
ARTICLE 19: CALL-BACK/STAND-BY PAY	14
ARTICLE 20: LONGEVITY/MERIT PROGRAM <u>LONGEVITY/MERITSTEP</u>	14
ARTICLE 21: INSURANCE PROGRAMS.....	15
ARTICLE 22: WORKERS' COMPENSATION: SALARY CONTINUATION NON- SAFETY EMPLOYEES	18 <u>17</u>
ARTICLE 23: OTHER BENEFITS.....	18 <u>17</u>
ARTICLE 24: UNION SECURITY/ACCESS.....	19 <u>18</u>
ARTICLE 25: IMPASSE RESOLUTION.....	21 <u>20</u>
ARTICLE 26: GRIEVANCE ARBITRATION	21 <u>20</u>
ARTICLE 27: MANAGEMENT RIGHTS	22 <u>21</u>
ARTICLE 28: HARASSMENT POLICY	23
ARTICLE 29: SEPARABILITY	23

Memorandum of Understanding
between
The City of ~~Cannel-by-the-Sea~~ Carmel-by-the-Sea
and
City of Carmel-by-the-Sea General Unit

ARTICLE 1: PREAMBLE

This Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) is made and entered into between the City of Carmel-by-the-Sea, hereinafter referred to as “City,” and the Laborers’ International Union of North America, United Public Employees of California, LIUNA/UPEC, Local 792, hereinafter referred to as “Union” pursuant to California Government Code Section 3500 et seq. The purpose of this MOU is the establishment of rates of compensation, hours of work and other terms and conditions of employment. Existing practices and/or benefits which are not referenced in this MOU and which are subject to the meet and confer process shall continue without change unless modified subject to the meet and confer process.

ARTICLE 2: RECOGNITION

2.1 The City of Carmel-by-the-Sea recognizes the Union as the exclusive representative for the following full time and regular part-time positions in accordance with Article 2.52.055 of the Carmel Municipal Code for the following classifications.

1. Administrative Coordinator (~~Fire, Planning and Building, and Public Works~~)
2. Assistant City Forester
3. Assistant Planner
4. Building Inspector
5. Facility Maintenance Specialist*
6. Circulation Supervisor
7. Code Enforcement ~~Officer~~ Coordinator
8. Community Activities Assistant
- ~~9. Facility Maintenance Worker~~
9. Finance Analyst
10. Finance Specialist
11. Financial Services Coordinator
12. Forest Care Worker
13. IT Technician
14. ~~13.~~ Librarian I
15. ~~14.~~ Librarian II
16. ~~15.~~ Library Assistant
17. ~~16.~~ Maintenance Worker I/II
18. ~~17.~~ Maintenance Worker ~~/Gardener~~ III

19. ~~18.~~ Permit Technician
20. ~~19.~~ Planning Technician
21. ~~20.~~ Program Supervisor — Community Activities**

- ~~21. Public Service Maintenance Worker I~~
- ~~22. Public Service Maintenance Worker II~~
- ~~23. Senior Maintenance Worker (Cement Mason, Equipment Operator, Sweeper Operator, Traffic Markings Painter, Mechanic)~~
- 22. ~~24.~~ Streets Supervisor
- 23. ~~25.~~ Tree Climber and Care Specialist

* Official classification on file is Building (Facility) Maintenance Specialist.

** Official classification on file is Program Supervisor – Recreation.

2.2 Notwithstanding any other provisions in this MOU, part time hourly positions are not entitled to any other compensation or benefit not specifically listed herein.

ARTICLE 3: TERM OF CONTRACT

3.1 The term of this MOU shall be from July 1, ~~2019-2022~~ through June 30, ~~2022~~2024.

ARTICLE 4: COMPENSATION

4.1 Wages:

Effective ~~January 1, 2020, the hourly rate salary steps for all classes in this bargaining unit shall be increased by three and one half percent (3.5%). Effective January 1, 2021, the hourly rate salary steps for all classes in this bargaining unit shall be increased by two percent (2.0%). Effective January July 1, 2022, the hourly rate salary steps for all classes in this bargaining unit shall be increased by ~~one and one quarter percent (1.25)~~seven percent (7%). Effective July 1, 2023, the hourly rate salary steps for all classes in this bargaining unit shall be increased by four percent (4%).~~

4.2 Bilingual Pay Differential Eligibility (Spanish):

A. Any certified bilingual (Spanish) speaking person employed in a designated public contact position, who has been assigned duties in writing involving regular and frequent use of bilingual skills, shall be eligible to receive one-hundred dollars (\$100) per month.

B. Regular and frequent use shall mean using the skill on the average of once per workday. However, exceptions can be made at the discretion of the Department Head with the concurrence of the City Administrator.

C. The bilingual differential allowance shall cease when the position is no longer determined as requiring bilingual skills or the employee is assigned to a position which does not require bilingual skills.

D. An employee who ~~is~~ is on leave of absence without pay during a pay period shall receive the bilingual differential in proportion to the relationship of the time worked during that pay period bears to eighty (80) hours.

4.3 Out of Class Pay:

The purpose of this provision is to provide for compensation of an employee who is properly assigned in writing to perform the significant duties of a higher classified position for relief necessitated by the temporary vacancy caused by the incumbent's absence or pending the filling of a vacant position beginning on the second full pay period of such assignment and continuing for the duration of such assignment, but not to exceed six months (pursuant to CalPERS regulations).

Out of class pay will be provided when the following conditions are met:

1. There is a vacant position specifically allocated to the department.
2. The assignment will require the duties of the position to be performed by the individual for a period of not less than two (2) pay periods.
3. The class to which the employee is assigned must have a top salary step of at least 5% above the top step of the employee's current class.
4. The assignment and the duration of the assignment is made by the department head in writing specifying the period of the temporary assignment and is approved by the City Administrator.
5. The employee must satisfactorily perform the essential functions of the job class to which that employee is assigned.
6. The employee meets the minimum qualifications identified in the job description of the classification being assigned.

Such temporary assignment shall not be considered a promotion. The individual shall receive either a five percent (5%) premium or Step 1 of the class assigned, whichever is greater.

If the employee receives between five percent (5%) and seven-and one-half percent (7.5%) out of class pay, the employee will continue to be eligible to earn overtime as would have been earned in the employee's regular class. If the employee receives out of class pay greater than seven-and one-half percent (7.5%), and is assigned to an FLSA exempt position, the employee will not be eligible for overtime pay, but will receive pro-rated management leave based on the duration of the assignment.

The out of class pay shall cease when any of the following occur:

1. The absent incumbent returns to duty.
2. The vacant position is filled.
3. The assignment is terminated in writing by the appointing authority, whichever occurs first.

Under no circumstance may any out of class assignment continue longer than six months in any one fiscal year.

4.4 Advanced Certification/License Pay

As recommended by a Department Head and subject to approval by the City Administrator, the City may provide a flat monthly payment to employees who obtain certification or license that provides added benefit to the City, beyond the requirements of the employee's position. The Parties agree that topics of eligible types of certifications or licenses, the amounts of pay, and limits on numbers of pay and numbers of employees authorized to receive pay will all be included in the Joint Labor Management Committee meetings intended to take place during the term of this Agreement, pursuant to Section 27.5 of this Agreement.

ARTICLE 5: EDUCATIONAL INCENTIVE PAY

5.1 Payment Established: The City Council, having determined the acquisition of additional education by employees makes those employees more valuable to the City, does hereby establish an Educational Incentive Pay Plan (EIP).

5.2 Definitions: For the purpose of this program, the following definitions shall apply:

5.2.1 Base Salary shall mean the monthly salary of the employee as established by the City Council and shall not include any overtime, holiday-in-lieu pay or allowances or other supplemental benefits.

5.2.2 Satisfactory Completion shall mean a grade of "C" or better in any course. No more than one-third (1/3) of the total number of units considered for EIP may be on a "credit only" or "pass/fail" basis (limit of 10 out of 30 units or 20 out of 60 units). Units earned with a "Credit Minus" grade will not be considered eligible under the EIP program.

5.3 College Level shall mean any post-high school educational institution accredited by the California State Department of Education, the Western Association of Schools and Colleges, or by equivalent organizations in other states and countries, or which have the prior approval of the City Administrator.

5.4 Job-Related shall mean any college level course related to technical or specialized aspects of the employee's position, as well as courses meeting general educational degree requirements, which are reasonably job-related. The City Administrator's determination of the eligibility of any course shall be final and shall be obtained prior to taking a course.

5.5 Units shall mean semester units (two semesters to a full academic year). Each quarterly or trimester unit shall be counted at a value of .67% of a semester unit.

5.6 Rates of additional compensation:

5.6.1 Academic Education. Upon satisfactory completion of 30 units of college level related courses, the employee shall receive a salary increase equal to two and one-half percent (2.5%) of their base salary. Upon attainment of 60 units or the attainment of an Associate Degree, the employee shall receive a salary increase equal to five percent (5%) of base salary.

5.6.2 Non-Academic Training or Instruction. For eligible employees, the City Administrator, upon recommendation of the Department Manager, may grant prior approval for a course of instruction or training, which would lead to the attainment of EIP. The City Administrator shall be guided in this determination by the value to the City of the employee's knowledge and/or skill accumulation, and by the employee's expenditure of time and effort as compared to that put forth by an employee earning the same level of EIP by the accumulation of college-level units (at approximately 30 to 54 hours per college unit).

5.6.3 In no case shall the EIP rate of compensation exceed five percent (5%).

5.7 Eligibility: In order for employees to be eligible for EIP, ALL of the following conditions shall be met:

5.7.1 A regular employee shall become eligible once successfully completing 18 months of continuous service to the City except that this period of time may be waived at the discretion of the City Administrator.

5.7.2 The education, training or instruction shall be acquired at times when the City does not compensate the employee. Reimbursement to the employee by the City for the costs of books, tuition, or supplies shall not affect eligibility. Scholarships or veterans' benefit shall not be considered compensation.

5.7.3 Credit shall not be given for work experience, even though an academic institution may have given credit for such experience, until such time as a degree is granted the employee by such institution.

5.7.4 The employee shall submit to the City Administrator through the Department Manager a list of courses and credits, together with transcripts or other proof of satisfactory completion, as may be required to verify the acquisition of claimed credits.

5.8 Time of payment: EIP shall be paid to eligible employees beginning with the pay period in which the City Administrator has approved the application for EIP.

5.9 All members shall maintain any license or certification required for his or her position by the Department of Transportation.

ARTICLE 6: ~~CAL-PERS~~CALPERS RETIREMENT PLAN

6.1 Tier I: Bargaining unit members hired on or before November 1, 2011.

6.1.1 The "2% at 55" retirement formula shall be available to bargaining unit members hired on or before November 1, 2011.

6.1.2 Final Compensation Based on 12-Month Period:

For the purposes of determining a retirement benefit, final compensation for bargaining unit members covered by this Section mean the highest consecutive twelve (12) month period.

towards the City's costs, for a total contribution of 10% toward the normal cost of pension benefits, as permitted by Cal. Gov. Code Section 20516.

The parties acknowledge that CalPERS mandates an election by unit ~~member~~Members, separate from ratification of this MOU, to provide for this cost sharing pursuant to Cal. Gov. Code Section 20516. As soon as practicable after the effective date of this MOU, the City will initiate the PERS contract amendment process. Upon approval and agreement from the bargaining unit and completion of the City's amendment to the PERS contract, unit member contributions will be made pursuant to Cal. Gov. Code Section 20516. If the contract amendment is not complete before the effective date of the cost sharing described in this Section, the cost sharing shall be implemented outside of a PERS contract amendment as authorized by Cal. Gov. Code Section 20516(f). The Union and the City will take all actions necessary to implement the pension cost sharing agreement described in this Section.

6.3 Tier III: PEPR Retirement Tier Required for Bargaining Unit Members Hired On or After January 1, 2013 (Non-Classic Members).

6.3.1 This Section shall apply to bargaining unit members who were hired on or after January 1, 2013, and who do not qualify for pension reciprocity (non-Classic Members) as stated in Cal. Gov. Code Section 7522.02(c).

6.3.2 2% at 62 Formula: The "2% at 62" retirement formula will be available to bargaining unit members covered by this Section.

6.3.3 Final Compensation Based on Three-Year Final Average Salary: For the purposes of determining a retirement benefit, final compensation for bargaining unit members covered by this Section shall be determined by the average of the final three years of the member's salary.

6.3.4 Required Member Contributions: As required by Cal. Gov. Code Section 7522.04(g), effective January 1, 2013, bargaining unit members covered by this Section shall pay, through payroll deduction, fifty percent (50%) of normal costs.

6.3.5 Pension Cost Sharing:

In addition to paying 50% of normal costs as described above, bargaining members covered by this Section shall pay, through payroll deduction, an additional 3.0% of PERSable compensation toward the City's normal cost of pension benefits as permitted by Cal Gov. Code Section 20516.

The parties acknowledge that CalPERS mandates an election of unit members, separate from ratification of this MOU, to provide for this cost sharing pursuant to Government Code Section 20516. As soon as practicable after the effective date of this MOU, the City will initiate the contract amendment process. Upon approval and agreement from the bargaining unit and completion of the City's amendment to the CalPERS contract, unit member contributions will be made pursuant to Government Code Section 20516, Unit member Cost Sharing of Additional Benefits. If the contract amendment is not complete before the effective date of the cost sharing described in this Section, the cost sharing shall be implemented outside of a CalPERS contract amendment as

authorized by Government Code Section 20516(f). The Union and the City will take all actions necessary to implement the pension cost sharing agreement described in this Section.

6.4 As permitted by Internal Revenue Code Section 414(h)(2) and Government Code Section 20516, each unit member shall pay through payroll deductions the PERS contributions described in Section 6 with state and federal income tax on the PERS member contribution deferred to the extent permitted by law, including but not limited to, Internal Revenue Code, 26 USC Section 414(h)(2).

6.5 The City shall provide bargaining unit members with those optional benefits which it has elected to provide to bargaining unit members in its contract with CalPERS and in accordance with the Public Employees Retirement Law.

ARTICLE 7: UNION SUPPLEMENTAL RETIREMENT PLAN

7.1 Effective the first pay period after adoption by the City Council of this MOU, the City shall contribute \$1 per hour worked, excluding overtime, to the Laborer's International Union of North America, National (Industrial) Pension Fund, on behalf of each eligible employee who is: 1) represented by the Union, and 2) regularly scheduled to work twenty (20) hours or more per week.

ARTICLE 8: DEFERRED COMPENSATION

8.1 The City offers employees the opportunity to participate in a deferred compensation (457) plan on a voluntary basis through the payroll deduction plan. Participation and contributions are regulated by the rules and regulations established by the Internal Revenue Service (IRS) for such plan (457 Plans). Nothing in this section shall prohibit or restrict this voluntary participation, in the plan(s) offered by the City.

8.2 The City shall make monthly contributions on behalf of each eligible employee in the amount of \$25. In addition, effective with the first pay period following Council adoption of this Agreement, the City shall match up to ~~\$25-50~~ per month of contributions made by the employee. In no case shall the City contribute in excess of ~~\$50-75~~ per month to any individual employee's deferred compensation. It shall be the responsibility of the employee to specify the plan and investment option.

ARTICLE 9: UNIFORM ALLOWANCE

9.1 Effective the first day of the pay period following the City Council's approval of this agreement, the City will reimburse all represented Union employees for expenditures of up to \$300 per year for items of uniform required for them to perform their jobs. Employees shall provide receipts for all purposes for which they are requesting reimbursement.

9.2 Effective the first day of the pay period following the City Council's approval of this agreement, the City shall continue to provide uniforms to all represented Union employees who are required to wear them at no cost to the employee.

The uniform items and cost, including reimbursement costs, for all represented Union employees

who are required to wear a uniform is set forth in Appendix “A.” The parties agree that to the extent permitted by law, the monetary value of compensation for the cost of uniform items and reimbursement costs are special compensation and shall be reported as such to CalPERS pursuant to Title 2 CCR, Section 571(a)(5) — Statutory Items.

ARTICLE 10: HOLIDAYS

10.1 The following 12 holidays shall be observed:

1. New Year’s Day, January 1st
2. Third Monday of January (Martin Luther King Day)
3. Lincoln’s Birthday, February 12th
4. President’s Day, Third Monday of February
5. Memorial Day, Last Monday of May
6. Independence Day, July 4th
7. Labor Day, First Monday of September
8. Veterans’ Day, November 11th
9. Thanksgiving Day, Fourth Thursday in November
10. Friday immediately following the Thursday in November designated as Thanksgiving
11. Christmas Eve, December 24
12. Christmas Day, December 25

10.2 In the event a holiday falls on a Saturday, Municipal Departments shall remain open on the preceding Friday, but employees shall be given either the preceding Friday or the following Monday, at the discretion of the Department Manager and City Administrator, as an in-lieu holiday. If a holiday falls on a Sunday, it shall be observed on Monday.

ARTICLE 11: GENERAL LEAVE

11.1 Each bargaining unit employee shall be entitled to ~~one day~~two days (~~8~~a maximum of 16 hours) of general leave per year during the period of the contract. The Department Manager shall approve use of general leave. General leave may not be accumulated from one year to the next.

ARTICLE 12: HOURS OF WORK

12.1 Workweek: The normal workweek shall consist of five (5) days, Monday through Friday, inclusive.

12.2 Workday: The normal workday shall consist of eight (8) consecutive hours of work within a maximum nine-hour period, interrupted by an unpaid lunch break of not less than one-half hour nor more than one hour. The normal workday shall fall within the hours between 7:00 a.m., and 6:00 p.m. Input from employees at each work site is welcomed. An employee shall be given seven (7) calendar days’ notice before a change in the daily work schedule can be implemented.

12.3 Change in flours of Work: Should, in the judgment of the City, it be necessary to establish daily or weekly work schedules departing from the normal workday or the normal workweek for a period exceeding two (2) weeks, the City shall meet and discuss the proposed change with the Union at least ten (10) days in advance, except in cases deemed to be an emergency by the City Administrator.

12.4 Alternative Work Schedules: During the term of this Agreement the parties may mutually agree to meet and confer regarding alternative work schedule and notwithstanding subsections A and B above, the City and the Union may agree to establish alternative work schedules consisting of forty (40) hours in a work week or eighty (80) hours in a bi-weekly period. Alternative work schedules may be implemented on a Department-by-Department basis.

12.4.1 All full-time employees shall be scheduled to work eighty (80) hours within a nine (9) consecutive day period. The scheduled day off shall be either a Friday or Monday, providing that this work schedule for the library employees does not cause a reduction of hours the library is open to the public.

12.4.2 Rest Periods: During their normal eight (8) hour workday, employees will be granted two (2) fifteen (15) minute rest periods in the approximate middle of each half shift, which may be scheduled by the City.

ARTICLE 13: VACATION ACCRUAL PLAN

13.1 The following vacation accrual schedule shall be in effect:

1-4 years of service:	80 hours per year
5-10 years of service:	120 hours per year
11-15 years of service:	160 hours per year
15 years of service and over:	176 hours per year

13.2 Vacation accrual will be reflected in the City's books on a month-to-month basis in hours.

13.3 The maximum amount of vacation time that may be held in an unused status shall be the amount an employee is entitled to accrue in two (2) anniversary years. The department manager may grant exceptions with approval by the City Administrator.

[13.4 The CITY agrees to recommend that the City Council eliminate Municipal Code 2.52.630 \(Vacations: Eligibility of Use\).](#)

ARTICLE 14: VACATION BUY BACK

14.1 The parties agree that eligible members of the UNION will have the option, subject to approval by the City administrator, to sell up to forty (40) hours of accumulated vacation per fiscal year to the CITY in exchange for compensation at the employee's current hourly rate in the fiscal year sold.

14.2 To qualify, an employee must have taken at least 40 hours of vacation in the 12 months prior to the request and have at least a one-year accrual balance remaining on the books after the sale of vacation hours.

ARTICLE 15: BEREAVEMENT LEAVE

15.1 Each member of the Union shall be entitled to twenty-four (24) hours of bereavement leave each fiscal year for serious illness, disability, or death in the employee's immediate family. If the employee exhausts the 24 hours of bereavement leave, the employee shall be permitted to use up to two days of accrued sick leave as bereavement leave. If the employee exhausts the 24 hours of bereavement leave and has used two additional days of sick leave, and experiences an additional incident qualifying for bereavement leave in the same calendar year, the employee shall be permitted to use up to an additional five days of accrued sick leave as bereavement leave.

15.2 Immediate family is defined as the employee's spouse, child, step-child, parent, stepparent, grandparent, sibling, mother-in-law, father-in-law, sister-in-law, and brother-in-law, registered domestic partner or any other person approved by the department manager. The department manager may require the employee furnish satisfactory proof to substantiate the use of bereavement leave. Bereavement leave shall not be subtracted from an employee's sick leave account and shall not accrue from one fiscal year to the next.

ARTICLE 16: SICK LEAVE

16.1 The City shall continue to grant each eligible employee of the Union eight (8) hours of sick leave per month. These days are to be used in accordance with the procedure(s) outlined below and in the Personnel Ordinance of the Municipal Code (Sections 2.52.660 — 2.52.685) of the City of Carmel-by-the-Sea.

16.2 Sick leave shall be charged against an employee's credit only for regular working days and shall not be charged for time absent on holidays or other authorized days off. Charges against an employee's credit shall be rounded off to the lowest hour.

For example:

<u>Time off work</u>	<u>Time charged</u>
59 minutes or less	0
1 hour	1 hour
1 hour and any segment of the next hour	1 hour

A. Medical appointments of ~~59-90~~ minutes or less, with written physician verification, shall not be charged to an employee's sick leave account

B. Medical appointments of ~~59-90~~ minutes or less, without written physician verification, shall be charged to employee's sick leave account in 15-minute segments.

16.5 Pursuant to Government Code Section 20965 to the City’s CalPERS retirement contract, an employee may elect to use sick time available to him/her under the provision of the contract for sick leave service credit. If an employee elects to use sick leave available for service credit, such time cannot also be applied to the “sell back” provision under this section.

ARTICLE 17: CATASTROPHIC ILLNESS/SICK LEAVE HOURS TRANSFER

17.1 Development of Policy: The parties agree to meet and confer during the term of this Agreement regarding a Catastrophic Leave Donation Policy, which is intended to include, but not be limited to the following terms:

~~17.1 General Requirements: A.~~ An employee or their immediate family member shall be faced with or have incurred either a catastrophic illness or major injury from an accident in order to be eligible for this program. The appointing authority (City Administrator) shall determine individual determinations of catastrophic illness or major injury from an accident. An employee must first request and receive authorization from the City Administrator to take an unpaid leave of absence. If a leave of absence is authorized, the City makes no guarantee that paid leave will be donated by other employees.

~~17.2 B.~~ The employee requesting the transfer of sick leave hours must have reached zero balances in the sick leave, vacation, and compensatory time ~~and executive~~ leave accounts during the illness or recovery period in order to be eligible. If approved, leave is transferred on an hour-for-hour basis. There will be no accrual of paid leaves or attachment of seniority rights to any donated hours (except where required by law). Unless otherwise required by law, employees receiving paid worker’s compensation or disability benefits are not eligible to receive donated leave.

~~17.3 C.~~ Generally, the illness or accident recovery period must be longer than three weeks for the employee to be eligible. ~~The appointing authority~~ Human Resources will evaluate each request and may modify this time period based on the facts of the case.

~~17.4 D.~~ An employee desiring to contribute to the transfer of hours must maintain a minimum balance of 120 hours after the transfer has been deducted from the donor’s sick leave account.

~~17.5 Employee Use of the Program — Employees MUST:~~

17.2 The parties understand and agree that to the extent the above anticipated policy terms expand or modify the City’s current practice, they shall not take effect until adoption of the policy.

~~A. — Notify their Department Manager requesting assistance in utilizing the program.~~

~~B. — State the reason for the request and the approximate number of hours they believe will be needed.~~

~~17.6 The Department Manager WILL:~~

~~A. File the employee's request with Human Resources.~~

~~17.7 Human Resources WILL:~~

~~A. Present the request to the City Administrator for authorization and determination of the validity of the request.~~

~~B. Disseminate notices to Municipal Departments stating that an employee is in need of sick leave hours and request interested employees to contact Human Resources.~~

~~C. Maintain the confidentiality of the employee(s) who donates sick leave hours to the employee in need.~~

~~D. Notify the Finance Specialist to make the transfer of sick leave hours when the transfer is approved.~~

~~17.8 The City Administrator WILL:~~

~~A. Review requests for participation in the program.~~

~~B. Authorize or deny the transfer of sick leave hours pursuant to the request.~~

ARTICLE 18: OVERTIME COMPENSATION AND/OR COMPENSATORY TIME

18.1 The City shall comply with the regulations established by the Fair Labor Standards Act (FLSA).

18.2 Overtime shall be compensated at time and one-half for all work performed over the normal forty (40) hour work period for those employees entitled to overtime pursuant to the guidelines and regulations established by the FLSA. Paid time off shall be counted as time worked.

18.3 Employees entitled to overtime compensation may, in-lieu of monetary compensation for statutory overtime, choose to take compensatory time off at a rate of not less than one and one-half hours for each hour of overtime worked. Compensatory time shall only be granted upon approval of the Department Manager.

18.4 Accrued compensatory time must be permitted to be used within a reasonable period” of time as long as it does not “unduly disrupt” the operations of the agency. (Per FLSA guidelines).

18.5 Compensatory time may be accrued up to the following limits with Department Manager approval as follows:

- 75 hours (equals 50 straight-time hours)

18.6 In the event compensatory time is sold back to the City, it will be paid at the straight hourly rate since it was accumulated at the time and one-half rate.

ARTICLE 19: CALL-BACK/STAND-BY PAY

In situations where an employee is called back to work during a non-scheduled period of time the employee shall be granted a minimum of two (2) hours overtime. Travel time to and from the workplace shall not be considered time worked.

A. Standby is any time other than time when the employee is actually on duty during which an employee is not required to be on City premises but to stand by ready to immediately report for duty and must arrange communication such that the supervisor can reach the employee within fifteen (15) minutes or less.

If an employee is placed on standby duty, such employee shall be compensated for the time spent on assigned standby at two dollars and fifty cents (\$2.50) per hour. If such standby is spent on weekends or holidays, the employee shall be compensated at three dollars (\$3.00) per hour. No employee shall be compensated for standby duty and call back work simultaneously.

The City may assign employees who will be required to perform stand-by duty with fourteen (14) days' notice, except in the event of a pending/forecasted storm or in other emergency situations.

ARTICLE 20: ~~LONGEVITY/MERIT PROGRAM~~

~~20.1—The Union and the City agreed to discontinue the longevity/merit program (LMP) for all employees in the Union who are not eligible and receiving the benefit under the LMP, as of July 1, 2001.~~

~~20.2—For the Term of this Agreement, the Union and the City agree to continue the longevity/merit program (LMP) for employees who met the following qualifications:~~

ARTICLE 20: LONGEVITY/MERITSTEP

20.1 Addition of Sixth Step

Union and City agree to add a sixth step to the salary ranges for positions represented by the Union. The increment between the 5th and 6th steps will be three percent (3%). Employees who meet the eligibility criteria set forth below on or before July 1, 2022, shall be placed on the 6th step effective July 1, 2022. Employees who meet the eligibility criteria after July 1, 2022 shall be placed on the 6th step in accordance with the City's usual practice for timing of performance-based increases.

Eligibility: To qualify for placement on the 6th step, an employee MUST:

~~A. Had~~ A. Have completed ten (10) continuous years of service with the City of Carmel-by-the-Sea ~~as of July 1, 2001; and; and~~

B. Have received a Satisfactory or higher performance rating on the

employee's two (2) most recent performance reviews.

~~B. Receive a Satisfactory performance evaluation during the Fiscal Year, July 1 through June 30.~~

- ~~1. Employees receiving more than one performance evaluation during the fiscal year shall have eligibility based on the first evaluation received in the fiscal year.~~
- ~~2. Once completed performance evaluations are received in the Personnel Office, LMP eligibility will be checked. Employees meeting the program requirements shall receive the defined benefit.~~

~~20.3 Rate of Compensation. Employees meeting the requirements of the LMP program shall receive compensation for \$1,200 less mandated deductions.~~

~~20.4 For purposes of the LMP program the following performance evaluation rating definitions shall apply:~~

- ~~Satisfactory: This is the level of work expected of a fully competent employee. The employee is meeting the standards required for the position.~~
- ~~Marginally Satisfactory: The work performance is less than that expected of a fully competent employee.~~
- ~~Unsatisfactory: The work performance is inferior to the standards required for the position.~~

ARTICLE 21: INSURANCE PROGRAMS

21.1 The City offers a variety of insurance protection programs for the employee and dependents. Some protection is provided through fully insured instruments. Other protection is provided through a City self-funded program. Other protection is employee funded.

21.2 For the purposes of this section the following definitions and groupings of coverage shall exist:

A. **Non-Elective (Core):** Mandatory coverage: (Employer Paid)

(1) Mandatory per month employer contribution required by CalPERS for each employee enrolled in the CalPERS medical protection program.

(2) Employee/dependent dental premium, established by the City's broker provider of record ~~for the self-insured dental plan~~, depending on the level of coverage chosen.

(3) Collective employee/dependent vision premium established by City's broker provider of record, ~~for the self-insured vision plan~~.

(4) Basic \$30,000 life insurance premium (available only to full-time and regular part time employees).

(5) Accidental Death and Dismemberment Policy (available only to full-time and regular part time employees).

B. **Elective (non-core) coverage** (Employee Paid): available for purchase with flexible spending monies available to eligible employee:

(1) Employee and/or dependent medical coverage in the CalPERS Program less the mandatory per month required employer payment.

(2) I.R.C. Section 125 - Flexible Spending Account

(3) I.R.C. Section 125 - Dependent Care

C. Section 125 Plan: The City's insurance plan is structured within this tax-deferred program. This is an Internal Revenue Code permitted plan. A third party administrator provides administration of the plan.

21.3 ~~The City's Maximum Medical Premium Contribution will be capped at 80% of the CalPERS CHOICE, SELECT, CARE, or EPO Medical Premium for~~ For eligible employees enrolled in the Public Employee Medical and Hospital Care Act (~~PEHCA~~) Medical Plan (~~PENHCA~~) Medical Plan, the City will make a maximum medical premium contribution, based on employee choice, that is either equal to 100% of the cost of the premiums for the lowest cost PPO plan (if, and only if, there are at least two PPO options at the applicable coverage level) or 80% of the cost of premiums for any other City-offered health plan.

The Parties agree to an automatic re-opener once estimated rates are known for the 2023 plan year, if the cost to the City of paying 100% of the premiums for the lowest cost PPO plan is projected to increase by more than 20% compared to the cost in the first year.

21.4 The City agrees to maintain the contract for Group Long Term Disability Insurance (LTD). The cost of this insurance shall continue to be fully paid by participating employee and Participation in the plan is voluntary. Continuation of the coverage requires seventy-five percent (75%) participation by all eligible employees (benefited full-time and part-time).

21.5 Plan Contents:

A. Life Insurance and Accidental Death/Dismemberment Insurance (AD&D) (Only available to full-time and benefited part-time employees).

Provider: Life Insurance - Standard Insurance Company

Rates: \$.32 per \$1000 Benefit (Basic Life)

\$.04 per \$1000 of Benefit (Basic AD&D)

Provider: AD&D Insurance - Standard Insurance Company

Rates:

All employees: \$ 1.50 p/month

B. Vision Insurance:

~~Provider: Self-funded for Vision Insurance Coverage~~

Vision insurance is available through Vision Service Plan (VSP). Employees shall be enrolled in the City’s vision care health plan. The City shall pay 100% of the premium for the VSP Core (City Paid) plan for employee and eligible dependents. Employees have one option to purchase a buy-up option that is fully paid by the employee.

Rates:

~~(E)employee Only: \$ 6.10 p/month~~

~~(E)employee + 1 dependent: \$ 11.86 p/month~~

~~(E)employee + 2 or more: \$ 17.38 p/month~~

C. Dental Insurance:

~~Provider: Self-funded for Dental Insurance Coverage Rates:~~

Dental insurance is available through Delta Dental. The City will pay 100% of the premium for the Delta Dental Core (City Paid) plan for employee and eligible dependents. Employees have two options to purchase a buy-up option that is fully paid by the employee.

~~(E)employee Only: \$ 30.04 p/month~~

~~(E)employee + 1 dependent: \$ 55.13 p/month~~

~~(E)employee + 2 or more: \$103.89 p/month~~

D. Medical Insurance: CalPERS Plan (PEMHCA): subject to terms and conditions of the Public Employees’ Medical and Hospital Care Act (PEMHCA).

~~E. The City shall reimburse employees the following amounts for the following vision-related services:~~

Benefit	City reimbursement
Exam	\$100
Single lenses	\$110
Bifocal lenses	\$140
Trifocal lenses	\$160
Lenticular	\$280
Contacts	\$100

Frames	\$200 (every other year)
Cataract surgery or 20/40 correction deficiency: hard	\$200
Cataract surgery or 20/40 correction deficiency: soft	\$250

21.6 Retirees and Other Qualified Employees:

A. The City agrees to fund the minimum mandatory per month for medical coverage plus the administrative cost (based on total monthly premium) for currently enrolled retirees and eligible and enrolled un-benefited hourly employees, as required by CalPERS.

(1) The City agrees to provide additional minimum funding as needed for existing retirees, active or hourly employees who currently are not participating in the medical program, but who would be eligible under CalPERS guidelines.

21.7 Opting Out (Medical Program Only): Eligible employees may elect not to participate in the CalPERS medical plan. Anyone opting out shall only be eligible to take cash in the amount of \$291 per month, providing they meet the following conditions:

- A. They shall submit proof of legally compliant medical coverage elsewhere.
- B. They shall sign a medical plan waiver.
- C. Married employees shall be required to obtain the signature of their spouse on the medical plan waiver form.
- D. Employees under legal order to provide medical coverage for any dependents shall only be permitted to opt out after showing proof of coverage for each dependent identified in such legal order.

21.8 The City and Association will review the dental and vision plans to identify the most affordable and viable plan without increasing the plan(s) premium.

ARTICLE 22: WORKERS' COMPENSATION: SALARY CONTINUATION NON-SAFETY EMPLOYEES

22.1 Whenever any full-time, miscellaneous (Non-Safety) employee as defined by the Public Employees' Retirement System (PERS), is disabled, whether temporarily or permanently, by injury or illness arising out of and in the course of his/her duties, he/she shall become entitled, regardless of his/her period of service with the City, to leave of absence while so disabled without loss of salary in lieu of temporary disability payments or maintenance allowance payments, for the period of the disability, but not exceeding six months, or until such earlier date as he/she returns

to duty or is retired on permanent disability pension in accordance with the rules/regulations governing such retirement.

22.2 If the period of disability extends beyond the six month period, full salary continuation shall be discontinued and the employee shall be entitled to legal allowances provided under Workers' Compensation Laws of the State of California which may be integrated with any other compensation to which the employee may be entitled, i.e., Long Term Disability coverage.

22.3 Benefits: During the six month or less period of disability, the employee who suffers such injury/illness arising out of and in the course of his/her duties shall continue entitlement to all benefits as would have been afforded that employee had he/she not have suffered such injury/illness.

ARTICLE 23: OTHER BENEFITS

23.1 Jury Duty:

A. The City provides ~~lime~~time off with no loss of salary for employees who must fulfill jury duty obligations. Employees shall be entitled to keep the mileage reimbursement for such service. Any per diem amount received by the employee shall be signed over to the City.

23.2 Employee Payroll Deductions:

A. Upon authorization from any employee the City shall make direct deposit(s) to the financial institution of the employee's choice, through the City's duly authorized financial institution. The employee's financial institution must have direct deposit capabilities.

B. Employee funded insurance programs and deductions for deferred compensation programs shall be paid through payroll withholding.

C. Employee deductions for Union dues or service fees shall be made in accordance with the Agency Shop provisions in Section 23, below.

23.3 Wellness Reimbursement:

The City will provide any employee in the unit with a reimbursement of up to \$25/month to defray costs of a membership to a licensed gym/health club/fitness facility of the employee's choosing. This reimbursement will be provided on a semi-annual basis in arrears (July and January).

In order for employees to be reimbursed, they must provide evidence of payment for such membership in the form of cancelled checks, a credit card statement, or other payment verification deemed acceptable by the Finance Manager which provides verification of the membership payment over a six-month period.

Requests for reimbursements must be received by the City no later than the end of the month following the reimbursement period (e.g., requests for reimbursements for the period July –December must be received by the City on or before January 3 Pt; requests for reimbursements for the period January — June must be received by the City on or before July 3 Pt) in order to

ARTICLE 27: MANAGEMENT RIGHTS

27.1 It is understood and agreed that the City retains all of its powers and authority to manage municipal services and the work force performing those services.

27.2 It is agreed that during the term of this contract the City shall not be required to meet and confer on matters, which are solely a function of management, including the right to:

A. Determine and modify the organization of City government and its constituent work units.

B. Determine the nature, standards, levels, and mode of delivery of services to be offered to the public.

C. Determine the methods, means, and the numbers and kinds of personnel by which services are to be provided.

D. Determine whether goods or services shall be made or provided by the City, or shall be purchased, or contracted for.

E. Establish employee performance standards and to require compliance therewith.

F. Discharge, suspend, demote, reduce in pay, reprimand, withhold salary increases and benefits, or otherwise discipline employees, subject to the requirements of applicable law including the current Personnel Ordinance.

G. Relieve employees from duty because of lack of work or lack of funds or for other legitimate reasons.

H. Implement rules, regulations, and directives consistent with all applicable laws and the specific provisions of the Memorandum of Understanding.

I. Take all necessary actions to protect the public and carry out its mission in emergencies.

27.3 Decisions under this section shall not be subject to the grievance procedure unless specifically authorized by the Personnel Ordinance or other applicable law.

27.4 The City will meet and confer on the exercise of the foregoing Management Rights where such exercise falls within the scope of representation as defined by the MMBA.

27.5 Without waiving any of its management rights, the City agrees to participate in a standing Joint Labor Management Committee (“JLMC”) that will be made up of representatives of the Association and the City. This standing JLMC shall meet at least quarterly, upon request by either party, and may meet more frequently, if both parties agree. The City also agrees to participate in additional JLMC meetings to discuss specific topics including, but not limited to the following anticipated topics:

- A. Working conditions: the manner by which bargaining unit positions are filled (possible internal promotion/transfer preference), how work is performed (current employee vs. contract worker) and how it is assigned, workspace enhancements, training/professional development (scope, career ladders), remote work/telework possibilities, out-of-class issues.
- B. Revision/update to City of Carmel incentive pay for certain advanced certificates/licenses as set forth in Section 4.4.
- C. Informal Salary Review of Remaining Unit Positions and Consideration of Potential Career Ladders for Library Assistant I/II.
 - 1. The parties completed review of the PW Maintenance series during the prior MOU and similarly agree that the City will undertake a review of the remaining classes in the bargaining unit during the term of this Agreement.
 - 2. With respect to the Library Assistant classes, the parties agree to a target completion date of January 1, 2023 for completed review and discussion. of the Library positions and to that end, mutually agree to make good faith efforts to meet that target date.
 - 3. The City will begin this study for all other classifications within 90 days of the approval of the MOU. It is anticipated this will take approximately nine (9) months to complete at which time the City will meet and confer with the General Unit to discuss the findings. If the study is not completed within the nine (9) months, the city will provide bi-weekly progress updates to the General Unit until the study has been completed and share with the bargaining group.

The meeting schedule will be set in advance and the dates agreed to by both sides. Prior to any JLMC meeting, the parties will agree on an advanced agenda that identifies participants, topics to be covered, whether they involve management rights or negotiable decisions, and/or negotiable effects, as well as the parties' intended outcome (e.g. consideration of employee input into management decision, new/revised policy, side letter/letter of agreement)

ARTICLE 28: HARASSMENT POLICY

28.1 The City agrees to meet and consult with the Union before any changes to the City's harassment policy are presented to the City Council.

ARTICLE 29: SEPARABILITY

29.1 If a court of competent jurisdiction finally determines that any provision of the Memorandum of Understanding is invalid and unenforceable, such provision shall be separable,

ARTICLE 31: SIGNATURES

31.1 For the City of Carmel-by-the-Sea:

Chip Rerig, City Administrator

Dated

31.2 For the Carmel-by-the-Sea General Employees Association:

Ryan Heron, Chief Negotiator
Union of Public Employees of California—
Local ~~797~~792

Dated

Dated

Dated

Dated

Dated

Dated

Appendix “A”

Uniform Items: Costs and Reimbursements*

The City will provide Uniforms/Equipment for employees as follows:

Job Classification	Items Provided
• Assistant City Forester	Pants
• Facilities Maintenance Specialist	Shirt
• Facilities Maintenance Worker	Jacket
• Forest Care Worker	Respirator
• Maintenance Worker <u>I/II</u>	Chaps <u>Chaps</u>
• Maintenance Worker/ Gardener <u>III</u>	Helmets with Screens [*]
• Public Service Maintenance Worker VII	
• Senior Maintenance Worker	
• Street <u>Streets</u> Supervisor	
• Tree <u>Climber and</u> Care Specialist	

The City agrees to make available/furnish protective equipment to all classes listed above in addition to the classes of Community Activities Assistant, Code Compliance Coordinator, and Building Inspector if requested and/or deemed necessary which includes, but may not be limited to:

- Hat (baseball cap or visor)
- Hard Hat
- Rain Gear
- Safety Vest
- Eye and/or Ear Protection
- Gloves

The City agrees to reimburse the classes listed below up to \$225 each fiscal year for the purchase and repair of safety related footwear which must be worn at all times while on duty. Each department head will determine the specifics of the footwear required.

- Assistant City Forester
- Facilities Maintenance Specialist
- ~~• Facilities Maintenance Worker~~
- Forest Care Worker
- Maintenance Worker I/II
- Maintenance Worker ~~/Gardener~~ III
- ~~• Public Service Maintenance Worker I/II~~
- ~~• Senior Maintenance Worker~~

Memorandum of Understanding: General Employees Unit
July 1, ~~2019-2022~~ – June 30, ~~2022~~2024

- ~~Street~~Streets Supervisor
- Tree Climber and Care Specialist

The City agrees to reimburse the classes listed below up to \$225 every other fiscal year (odd numbered years) for the purchase and repair of safety related footwear which must be worn at all times while in the field. Each department head will determine the specifics of the footwear required:

- Assistant Planner
- Community Activities Assistant
- Code Compliance Coordinator
- Building Inspector

Effective July 1, 2021, the reimbursement for footwear identified above will increase to \$250.

*Forestry Staff only